1996

Verna Caporoz, Roxsanne Clastimado, Barney
Caporoz v. Guillermo Rodriguez, Margaret
Rodriguez, Willie Roriguez, Tim Fraga : Brief of
Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-86.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Industrial Commission improperly determined that Petitioners were not dependents under Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-71.
2. Whether or not the Industrial Commission properly applied the law in determining burden

of proof for establishing dependency.

3. Whether or not the Industrial Commission committed error by failing to construe the workers' compensation statute liberally in favor of the Petitioners.
4. Whether the Industrial Commission's decision and order are supported by adequate findings of fact and conclusions of law.
5. Whether the Petitioners' due process rights have been denied by virtue of the Industrial Commission and Administrative Law Judge's Findings of Fact or if they are arbitrarily capricious or wholly without cause.
6. Whether Temporary Total Disability Compensation had accrued and should have been awarded.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a final order of the Industrial Commission. The case arose from an industrial accident occurring on May 17, 1994 when Barney Caporoz was injured while in the course and scope of his employment with Uninsured Handyman Willie. Mr. Caporoz died on December 17, 1994 after being in a coma for six months. The Petitioners are sister and half-sister to the Decedent who resided with Decedent at the time of the injury. Petitioners are claiming they are entitled to workers compensation benefits by virtue of their dependency upon the support and maintenance of the Decedent.

Course of the Proceedings

1. On October 4, 1994, Petitioner Verna Caporoz filed a Protection of Rights claim for and on behalf of Barney Caporoz.
2. On May 5, 1995, Petitioner Verna Caporoz filed a claim for dependent benefits and burial expenses with the Industrial Commission.

3. A hearing was held before Judge Donald L. George of the Industrial Commission.
4. Judge Donald L. George signed a prepared Order on April 3, 1996.
5. A Motion for Review was timely filed on May 3, 1996.

Disposition at the Industrial Commission

The Industrial Commission denied the Motion for Review on October 30, 1996 determining that Petitioners were not entitled to Dependent benefits.

BACKGROUND FACTS

1. On May 17, 1994, Barney Caporoz was working for Handy Man Willie, an Uninsured Employer when he was injured by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment. See Judge George Findings of Fact, Paragraph 1, page 2, Industrial Commission Findings of Fact, page 1.
2. Barney Caporoz was in a coma until December 17, 1994 when he died from the May 17, 1994 accident. See Medical Record Exhibit and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 1.
3. At the time of the accident, Barney Caporoz resided with his sister Verna Caporoz and half-sister, Roxsanne Clastimodo. See Judge George Findings of Fact Paragraph 4, page 3 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 2.
4. On October 4, 1994, Applicant Verna Caporoz filed a Claim for Protection of Rights as it deals with her deceased brother, Barney Caporoz. She indicated that at the time of the injury, her brother was in a coma as a result of an industrial injury.
5. On May 5, 1995, Applicant filed a Claim for Dependents' Benefits and/or burial benefits.

See Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 3,

6. In 1988, the Petitioners moved from Hawaii to Utah to Plain City. Three years later, in 1992, the Deceased moved into a rental home of his sisters, the Applicants. See Judge George Findings of Fact, Paragraph 4, page 3, Industrial Commission Findings of Fact, page 2.
7. In 1992, the Petitioners were paying rent of \$275.00 per month. The Landlord increased the rent to \$400.00 per month and the sisters needed assistance and support to pay the rent and other expenses. See Findings of Fact by Judge Donald L. George Paragraph 5, page 3, Industrial Commission Findings of Fact, page 2.
8. The sisters testified they could not maintain the rent in said home without the assistance of their brother. Had the Deceased not moved in with his sisters, they could not afford said home. See Judge George Findings of Fact, paragraph 8, page 3.
9. After Barney Caporoz moved in, he purchased the family two additional vehicles, living room furniture, and other furniture. See Judge George Findings of Fact, paragraphs 10, 11, 12, page 3 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact, page 2.
10. He further increased the lifestyle of the Petitioners by paying for all recreation, taking the Petitioners to Lagoon and Wendover. See Judge George Findings of Fact, Paragraph 13, page 4 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact, page 2.
11. The Deceased also lessened expenses by performing all of the maintenance on the home and on the vehicles. See Judge George Findings of Fact, Paragraph 14, page 4 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 2.
12. He further contributed to the Petitioners support and maintenance by purchasing food.

See Judge George Findings of Fact Paragraph 14, page 4 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact, page 2.

13. The Deceased provided \$400.00 per month to pay for bills and paid \$150.00 toward the rent. See Judge George Findings of Fact, Paragraph 14, page 4 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 2.
14. The Deceased also increased the Petitioners lifestyle by entering into a contract for cable TV. See Judge George Findings of Fact, Paragraph 22, page 4 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 2.
15. The Deceased helped pay for utilities including the phone. See Judge George Findings of Fact, Paragraph 16, page 4, Industrial Commission Findings of Fact, page 2.
16. The applicants testified that the Deceased was the man of the family. Hearing Transcript pages 14, 22.
17. The parties held a joint bank account. See Hearing Transcript page 45, 46 and Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 3.
18. The Applicants both testified they enjoyed the relationship and arrangement. They had hope to continue this relationship and arrangement for considerable time. See testimony of Verna Caporoz.
19. Following the demise of the Deceased, the applicants could not maintain their lifestyle and standard of living. The Petitioners were forced to sell the couches, vehicles, loveseat, lounge chair, waterbed, TV and Roxsanne's bed. Furthermore, they could not afford cable nor go on any vacations. The telephone was shut off. See Judge George Findings of Fact Paragraphs 22 and 23, pages 4 and 5, Industrial Commission Findings of Fact page 3.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Workers Compensation Act of Utah intends that family members of a deceased worker receive benefits if the individual family member can show that dependency existed between the deceased and the family member. Dependency is based upon a question of fact and the underlying circumstances, and is not limited to an absolute dollar standard. Should dependency exist, Utah Law provides that accrued benefits are payable to the dependent or the estate, and the accrued benefits do not terminate due to the passing of the deceased.

The Applicant's in this case are dependents. In reviewing the Findings of Fact one can only come to the conclusion that dependency existed and any benefits that had accrued from the date of the accident to the date of death, are due and payable to the dependents in accordance to Utah Law.

20. The applicants have not eaten as well as when the Deceased was alive. See Hearing Transcript pages 24 and 48.
21. Both Applicants testified that they depended financially upon the Deceased. See Judge George Findings of Fact Paragraph 8, page 3.

ARGUMENT

The Petitioners fall within the Statutory meaning of Dependents.

The Workers Compensation Act of Utah intended to provide benefits to family of a Deceased employee. The Applicants, both of whom are related to the Deceased, fall squarely in Utah Code Ann. §35-1-71 in that Verna is a sister to the Deceased. In Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-71 it specifically states: “ No person shall be considered as a dependent unless he or she is a *member of the family of the Deceased employee*, or bears the relation of husband or wife, lineal descendant, ancestor, or brother or *sister*. (Emphasis added) Roxsanne is a half-sister and is specifically included in the statute. Half brothers and *half sisters* shall be included in the words "brother or sister" as above used. (Emphasis added)

Petitioners have the burden to prove that they are dependents. In Larsen's Section 63 it states:

“Dependency in fact must be established in order to qualify for death benefits in all cases except those involving a conclusive presumption of dependency. Proof of actual dependency does not require a showing that the claimant relied on the deceased for the bare necessities of life and without that contribution would have been reduced to destitution; it is sufficient to show that the deceased’s contributions were looked to by claimant for the maintenance of claimant’s accustomed standard of living. Hence a claimant may be dependent although receiving other income from claimant’s own work, from property, or from other persons on whom claimant is also dependent. Usually, actual contribution to

claimant's support is enough to establish dependency without evidence of legal obligation to support.

In LDS Hospital v. Industrial Commission of Utah 901 P.2d 1164 (1987), the court defined

"dependency". It states:

"dependency within the meaning of our workers' compensation statutes does not mean absolute dependency for the necessities of life, but instead it means a need for and reliance on the worker's income to support and maintain the alleged dependent in accordance with his accustomed station in life."

Larsen further indicates that "no absolute dollar standard by which to test either the magnitude of claimant's need or the magnitude of decedent's help in meeting that need. In fact there is Utah case law that shows a determination of dependency when the applicant was only receiving between \$1.00 to \$3.00 per month from the deceased.

In Sizemore v. Industrial Commission of Utah, 288 P.2d 788 (1955), the court has suggested a 2-part test in deciding dependency. The Sizemore court has indicated the following:

(1)(a) Dependency is primarily a question of fact, except in those cases covered by statutory presumption. While it is difficult to fashion a general definition to cover all situations which might constitute dependency, it should appear that at the time of the injury:

(1) There existed some family or other social relationship giving rise to a legal or moral obligation to support; and

(2) One or more of the following should be answered affirmatively:

a. That claimant relied upon Deceased in whole or in part for support or maintenance.

b. That it was reasonably necessary for the Deceased to render some financial assistance to claimant in order for him to maintain his accustomed standard of living; or

c. That claimant would in all probability have received some assistance from Deceased, had he continued to live.

In this case, the Applicants fulfill the Sizemore test. The Applicants had a family relationship and the Deceased assumed a moral obligation to support. The applicants relied upon the Deceased in part for support or maintenance and it was reasonable for the Deceased to render said assistance to his sisters. Had the Deceased not past away, he would continue to help the Applicants.

This case patterns after Roller Coaster Co. v. Industrial Commission, 189 P.2d 709 (1948). In Roller Coaster, the Deceased, James Y. Hess, lived with his mother. He had paid varying amounts of money for Applicants purchasing clothing, school expense and groceries. The Deceased also maintained the garden and home. The Court specifically said "The Commission correctly found that the mother and minor sister were partly dependent on decedent for support at the time of his death".

The Defendants and the Industrial Commission rely upon Farnsworth v. Industrial Commission, 534 P.2d 897 (Utah 1975). Farnsworth re-emphases the Sizemore tests as indicated the Rigby v. Industrial Commission, 286 P. 628 (1930), but denied benefits anyway. Farnsworth can be distinguished because of it's facts. In Farnsworth, the Father of the Deceased was making a claim. Even though the facts do not specify, it is understood that the Father was not living with the Deceased. The Deceased did not provide financial support. The Deceased made a claim for dependent benefits based on the fact that the Deceased provided transportation to the VA Hospital and to doctor appointments. The Deceased also performed yard-work and took his father on errands, "mainly to get him out of the house". The Applicant sometimes reimbursed or

paid the Deceased for his services. The Farnsworth court denied benefits because it was found that the “activities was not the type contemplated and intended within the meaning of the Workers Compensation Act”. The Farnsworth court found that in order to be “dependent”, the dependency must be based upon support. Specifically it states: “Case law (is) consistently limited to those fact situations wherein deceased contributed financial assistance or comparable assistance such as growing food, which was used in supporting the dependent”. In the case at hand, the Petitioners were relying upon the financial as well as moral and emotional support that their brother offered and gave them.

The Industrial Commission has indicated a wrong standard whether Petitioners are dependents. Specifically, the Industrial Commission indicates on page four:

“While Mr Caporoz carried his share of household expenses, he did not *subsidize* his sisters’ expenses. To the contrary, it appears that Mr. Caporoz and his sisters had developed a system of sharing common expenses, but that each of them paid their own personal expenses. While Mr. Caporoz may have occasionally treated his sisters to movies, admission to Lagoon or lodging and meals at Wendover, the Industrial Commission does not consider such items as *significant* to the support and maintenance of Ms. Caporoz or Ms. Clastimodo. (Emphasis added)

The Industrial Commission has inserted terms such as “significant or subsidize” in determining whether dependency was necessary. These terms go beyond what was indicated or even contemplated by prior case law. Sizemore and Farnsworth were quite clear in determining dependency. Furthermore, to now insert such terms as stated above would go contrary to public policy or the intent of the Workers Compensation laws. It must be remembered that there cannot be an absolute dollar standard by which to test either the magnitude of claimant’s need or the

magnitude of decedent's help in meeting those needs. See Larsen Section 63.10. Moreover, the applicants may have other substantial sources of support from work, from property, or from other persons on whom claimant is also dependent. The test is whether the Petitioners looked to the Decedent "for maintenance of an accustomed standard of living". It is clear from the facts that the Petitioners did in fact look to the Decedent for support. The Petitioners had Decedent pay the equivalent of the entire rent per month. The Decedent further provided food. The Decedent maintained the premises and automobiles. The Decedent purchased two other automobiles. The Decedent then treated the Petitioners to vacation and recreation. The Petitioners lifestyles were drastically changed when Decedent died. The automobiles were sold. The furniture was sold. The telephone and cable TV were cut off. No more recreation events or vacations.

The purpose of the workers compensation statute is to alleviate the financial hardship on individual employees and those dependent upon them by spreading the cost of an injury throughout the industry that employs the worker. Maryland Cas. Co. v. Industrial Commission, 364 P.2d 1020 (1961), Ortega v. Salt Lake Wet Wash Laundry, 156 P.2d 885 (1945). To further the purpose of the act, any doubt concerning the right of compensation must be resolved in favor of the injured worker and his dependents. See Heaton v. Second Injury Fund, 796 P.2d 676 (1990), J & W Janitorial Co. v. Industrial Commission, 661 P.2d 949 (1983), Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d 888 (1981), McPhie v. Industrial Commission, 567 P.2d 153 (1977), Long v. Western States Refining Co., 384 P.2d 1015 (1963), M & K v. Industrial Commission, 189 P.2d at 134 (1949). If there are any questions concerning whether there is dependency, one must resolve it in favor of an award. See Walls v. Industrial Commission, 857 P.2d 974 (1993) and Heaton. The Industrial Commission has failed to resolve any doubt concerning the right of

compensation in favor of the Petitioners.

Is the estate of the Deceased entitled to an award of Temporary Total Disability Compensation from the date of his injury to the time of his death?

In the case of Parker v. Industrial Commission, P.2d 278 (1935), the Utah Supreme Court had the opportunity to re-examine its position in the Heiselt Const. Co. v. Industrial Commission, 197 P. 589 (1921) case. The Parker court held:

The payment of compensation is, in a sense, a disability wage, and is earned by operation of law. The conditions making it payable all pertaining, the employee is entitled to it just as much as he is entitled to wages earned by contract. As disability payments are "earned" they become vested, and if the employee dies before they are paid, his estate is entitled to them.

In distinguishing it's prior decision in Heiselt the Court in Parker stated:

In all of these cases, including the Heiselt Coinstruction Co. Case, the question was to whether "unaccrued" payments for partial permanent disability passed to the estate. The question did not involve payments which had accrued for temporary total disability. . . . It is clear the court in that case did not intend to lay down any rule to the effect that compensation payments accrued at the time of the death would not pass to the estate.

The Parker Court further attempted to distinguish Heiselt by noting that in the case that "No award had been made for permanent partial disability for the loss of parts of four fingers until after the death of the decedent". The Court went on in interpreting the predecessor to Utah Code Ann. Section 35-1-68 to find that:

The language of R.S. Utah 1933, 42-1074, that compensation shall be paid only to employees or their dependents, is for the protection of the employees and their dependents and was not meant to deprive the estate of the deceased employee of compensation which was due and payable to him during his lifetime.

Thus, in cases of temporary total disability compensation which has accrued, there is no

lapse at the time of the injured workers death and such benefits would be payable to his heirs. The deceased's benefits had accrued. The Industrial Commission has determined by rule when benefits have been deemed and payable. In Rule 568-1-12(1), it states that "Temporary Total compensation shall be due and payable within 21 days of the date of the accident". A review of Parker reveals that even though the facts of the case involved benefits which were awarded by the Commission prior to death, the language clearly indicates that benefits are "earned" and "vested" at the time they are due. The Court defined the point in time when benefits accrue as follows:

The payment of compensation is, in a sense, a disability wage, and is earned by operation of law. The conditions making it payable all pertaining, the employee is entitled to it just as much as he is entitled to wages earned by contract. As disability payments are "earned" they become vested, and if the employee dies before they are paid, his estate is entitled to them.

This is completely consistent with the fact that total temporary disability is actually wage replacement. As in this case, Mr. Caporoz, who was a wage earner prior to his accident, his dependents enjoyed and depended upon the wages he was bringing home prior to the accident. Had Mr. Caporoz been earning wages instead of workers compensation benefits, his estate would have been entitled to them. But for the Defendant's withholding of Applicant's benefits, his dependents would have enjoyed and depended upon those benefits, just as they did the wages, when he was earning them. Why then would his estate not be entitled to at least the total temporary benefits which had already accrued at the time of his death?

The applicant was mortally injured on May 17, 1994. He did not pass away until December 17, 1994. Thus, the Deceased's temporary total disability payments were earned. The fact that Defendants did not pay these benefits when they were due and that the Applicant died before his case was heard by the Industrial Commission should not create an unfair and improper

windfall for the Defendants at the expense of the deceased's heirs. The Parker court stated:

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