1996

Verna Caporoz, Roxsanne Clastimodo, Barney Caporoz v. Guillermo Rodriguez, Margeret Rodriquez, Tim Fraga, Handyman Willie, Uninsured Employers' Fund, Industrial Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The determination of dependency is a question of fact. The sisters have failed to marshal all of the evidence in the record to show that the Industrial Commission's findings are not

supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, their petition for relief should be denied.

The Court of Appeals reviews the whole record to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support the Industrial Commission's denial of benefits. The evidence in the record supports the Commission's conclusion that the sisters were not dependent upon the decedent.

2. The Commission correctly determined that the decedent's estate was not entitled to an award of temporary total disability compensation for the time between his injury and his death.

Utah law is clear that the Commission may not make a posthumous award of temporary total disability unless the award was vested prior to the decedent's death.

3. The Commission's order clearly shows outlines the steps by which the ultimate conclusions on each factual issue were determined. Accordingly, there is no need to remand this matter for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

Point I. The Industrial Commission Correctly Determined That Petitioners Were Not Dependent or Partially Dependent Upon the Decedent for Support.

A. The Petitioners Failed to Marshal the Evidence.

The sisters claim that the evidence in the record does not support the Commission's determination that they were not partially dependent upon the decedent for support. However, the sisters have failed to "marshal all the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence." Grace Drilling v. Board of Review, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah App. 1989).

The sisters' brief also completely ignores one finding that was at the heart of the Commission's determination. The sisters fail to mention that Ms. Caporoz quit her job after her brother was injured and remained off work for the next five months. Ms. Caporoz did not quit her job to provide care to the decedent. He was in a hospital under the care of medical providers for the entire period between his accident and his death. The fact that Ms. Caporoz quit her job deprived the household of her income. This fact was central to the Commission's determination that the sisters' financial problems following the accident were due to the loss of Ms. Caporoz' income rather than the loss of the decedent's support.

The petitioner's failure to marshal the evidence as required should result in the court accepting the Commission's findings of fact as conclusive. Crapo v. Industrial Commission, 297 Utah Adv. Rep. 14, 15 (Utah App. 1996); VanLeeuwen v. Industrial Commission, 901 P.2d 281, 284 (Utah App.) cert. denied, 910 P.2d 426 (Utah 1995).

B. The Commission's Finding of No Dependency Is Supported by Substantial Evidence In the Record.

Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-71 identifies those who qualify to claim dependents benefits under the Utah Workers' Compensation Act:

35-1-71. Dependents-Presumption.

The following persons shall be presumed to be wholly dependent for support upon a deceased employee:

(1) Children under the age of 18 years, or over if physically or mentally incapacitated and dependent upon the parent, with whom they are living at the time of the death of such parent, or who is legally bound for their support.

(2) For purposes of payments to be made under Subsection 35-1-68(2)(a)(i), a surviving husband or wife shall be presumed to be wholly dependent upon a spouse with whom he or she lived at the time of the employee's death.

In all other cases, the question of dependency, in whole or in part, shall be determined in accordance with the facts in each particular case existing at the time of the injury or death of such employee, except for purposes of dependency

reviews under Subsection 35-1-68(2)(a)(iii). No person shall be considered as a dependent unless he or she is a member of the family of the deceased employee, or bears the relation of husband or wife, lineal descendant, ancestor, or brother or sister. The word “child” as used in this title shall include a posthumous child, and a child legally adopted prior to the injury. Half brothers and half sisters shall be included in the words “brother or sister” as above used.

Although the sisters do not qualify for the presumption of dependency set out above, they may qualify as dependents of the deceased based on the specific facts of this case.

The determination of dependency under the Utah Workers’ Compensation Act is a question of fact based upon the relationship between the sisters and the decedent on the date of the accident. Farnsworth v. Industrial Commission, 534 P.2d 897, 899 (Utah 1975); Rigby v. Industrial Commission, 286 P.2d 628, 630 (Utah 1930). The sisters have the burden to establish their dependency on the decedent by a preponderance of the evidence. Lipman v. Industrial Commission, 592 P.2d 616 (Utah 1979).

The Commission correctly determined that the sisters were not dependent upon the decedent for support and denied their claim for benefits. The Commission applied the Rigby test as set out in Farnsworth:

Ms. Caporoz and Ms. Clastimodo have the burden of proving dependency which is a question of fact that must be made on a case by case basis. They must establish that they relied upon the deceased worker for support, that had the deceased worker not been killed, the applicants would have continued to receive some assistance, and that it was reasonably necessary for the deceased worker to render aid to the applicants to allow them to maintain their accustomed standard of living.

Order Denying Motion For Review, Appendix 1.

The Commission observed that the decedent “carried his share of household expenses” but “did not subsidize his sisters’ expenses.” Although the decedent occasionally treated his

sisters to movies, admission to Lagoon and lodging and meals at Wendover, the Commission concluded that those items were not significant to the support and maintenance of the sisters. The Commission noted that the financial difficulties suffered by the sisters after the decedent's injury were due to the fact that Ms. Caporoz unnecessarily quit her job after the injury, not the loss of support from the decedent.

In other words, the Commission found that the sisters did not rely upon the deceased for support. The Commission determined that the contributions of the deceased to the household expenses were essentially no more than his share. Therefore, the arrangement between the sisters and the decedent was that of three independently supporting adults sharing expenses as roommates. Although the decedent occasionally treated his sisters to movies and other entertainment, those gifts were not necessary to maintain and support his sisters.

The evidence presented at the hearing showed that Ms. Caporoz quit her job after her brother's injury. Although she was not required to care for her brother who remained hospitalized until his death, she remained off work for five months. Accordingly, during the period immediately following the decedent's industrial accident, the household suffered the loss of Ms. Caporoz' earnings. The Commission determined that it was the loss of Ms. Caporoz' earnings that caused the financial reverses the sisters ascribe to the loss of the decedent's support.

There was conflicting evidence regarding the cause of the sisters' decreased standard of living, and the Commission resolved that conflict to the detriment of the sisters. The court should "not substitute its judgment as between two reasonably conflicting views . . . It is the province of the Board, not appellate courts, to resolve conflicting evidence, and where inconsistent inferences can be drawn from the same evidence, it is for the Board to draw the

inferences.” Grace Drilling Company v. Board of Review, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah App. 1989).

The sisters claim that the Commission applied the wrong legal standard to determine dependency because the Commission order found that the decedent “did not subsidize his sisters’ expenses.” “Subsidize” means “to support or assist with a subsidy,”¹ Although the Commission used language that is different from that in Rigby , the result is the same. The Rigby test contemplates that a dependent received some type of actual financial support from the decedent. The use of the term “subsidy” by the Commission does not change the test. The Commission simply found that the decedent did not contribute to the support of his sisters.

The sisters further claim that the Commission applied a higher standard because of the statement that “the Industrial Commission does not consider such items [movies and trips to Lagoon or Wendover] as significant to the support and maintenance of Ms. Caporoz or Ms. Clastimodo.” It is clear that the expenses to which the Commission refers are occasional entertainment expenses or gifts; not contributions to the sisters’ support. “Support” as used in the statute refers to the provision of food, shelter, clothing and other items necessary to maintain the dependent in his accustomed station in life. Farnsworth at 899. In the case of adult siblings, it is not reasonable to find dependency based upon isolated, insubstantial gifts of entertainment.

The Commission’s conclusion that the sisters were not dependents of their deceased brother for workers compensation purposes is supported by substantial evidence in the record. Accordingly, the court should affirm the Industrial Commission’s order denying dependency benefits.

¹ Webster’s II New Riverside University Dictionary (1988).

**Point II. There Was No Award To Mr. Caporoz Prior To His Death,
So No Benefits Can Pass To His Estate.**

A. The Caporoz Estate Cannot Receive Benefits That Were Not Vested In The Decedent Prior To His Death.

The sisters incorrectly assert that the decedent's estate is entitled to a payment of temporary total disability compensation for the period between the decedent's injury and the day of his death. It is well settled in Utah that an award for compensation under the Utah Workers' Compensation Act vests when an award is made and ceases upon the applicant's death. Heiselt Construction Co. v. Industrial Commission, 197 P. 589, 592 (Utah 1921). In Heiselt, David Murphy's fingers were frozen while employed by Heiselt Construction Company. Mr. Murphy later died from causes unrelated to his industrial injury. The Industrial Commission awarded permanent partial disability benefits to Murphy's estate after Murphy's death. The Utah Supreme Court reversed the award holding that an award of compensation does not vest until the award is made during the applicant's lifetime.

A claim for dependent's benefits is separate and independent from any claim the decedent may have had during his lifetime. Halling v. Industrial Commission 263 P. 78, 81 (Utah 1927). In Halling, the claim pursued by Mariner Halling during his lifetime was denied by the Industrial Commission. Upon his death, Rose Halling, his wife, timely filed a claim for dependent's benefits. The Industrial Commission denied the claim concluding that the denial of Mr. Halling's claim precluded the claim of Mrs. Halling and the children "who claim through him." The Utah Supreme Court reversed, reasoning that the claim of Halling's dependents was "separate and independent of any claim Mr. Halling may have had in his lifetime." Id. at 81.

Accordingly, the denial of Mr. Halling's claim was not binding on his dependents and did not bar their claim for benefits after his death.

Parker v. Industrial Commission, 50 P.2d 278 (Utah 1935), cited by the sisters is distinguishable from Heiselt. The decedent in Parker received an award of benefits from the Industrial Commission prior to his death. After Mr. Parker's death, the insurance carrier refused to pay the benefits which had been earlier awarded. The Court held that the award was vested and accrued upon his death. Therefore, the award could be paid to Mr. Parker's estate. In Heiselt, the benefits in question were not vested and accrued. Therefore, those unaccrued, unvested benefits did not pass to the decedent's estate. Id. at 279. The Utah Supreme Court reaffirmed Heiselt and Parker in Pacific States Cast Iron Pipe Co. v. Industrial Commission, 218 P.2d 970, 974 (Utah 1950).

Based upon the Court's reasoning in Halling, the instant claim for dependent's benefits cannot support a claim for temporary total compensation benefits to the decedent's estate. No claim for workers' compensation benefits was filed by Mr. Caporoz or his representative, and no award of any kind was ever made to him while he was living. Therefore, under the analyses contained in the cases cited above, Mr. Caporoz did not have a vested and accrued award which could pass to his estate upon his death.

B. R568-1-12 Does Not Apply To Determine the Date An Award Vests.

The petitioners claim that R568-1-12 provides the date upon which the decedent's award became accrued and vested. The relevant portions of R568-1-12 provide:

R568-1-12. Interest.

A. Interest must be paid on each benefit payment which comprises the award from

the date that payment would have been due and payable at the rate of 8% per annum.

B. For the purpose of interest calculation, benefits shall become “due and payable” (as used in Section 35-1-78, U.C.A.) As follows:

1. Temporary total compensation shall be due and payable within 21 days of the date of the accident.

The sisters fail to note that the plain language of R568-1-12(B) specifically limits the rule’s application to the calculation of interest on workers’ compensation awards. The rule cannot and does not apply to vest an award of benefits when no claim has ever been filed.

The Commission correctly denied the sisters’ claim for temporary total disability benefits because no award of benefits vested and accrued prior to the decedent’s death. For the reasons outlined above, this court should affirm the Commission’s order denying the sisters’ claim for temporary total disability to be paid into the decedent’s estate.

Point III. The Order of the Industrial Commission Contains Adequate Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

The sisters assert that the Order of the ALJ and the Commission are insufficient to permit meaningful review and do not reveal the method by which the Commission reached its determination. This assertion is without merit.

“An administrative agency must make findings of fact and conclusions of law that are adequately detailed so as to permit meaningful appellate review.” Adams v. Industrial Commission, 821 P.2d 1, 4 (Utah App. 1991). In order for the court to meaningfully review the findings of the Commission, the findings “must be sufficiently detailed to include enough subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on each factual issue was reached.” Adams at 4, quoting Acton v. Deliran, 737 P.2d 996, 999 (Utah 1987).

In this case, the Commission set out a number of factual findings in its order. These facts show that the decedent lived with his adult siblings and that they shared rent and other household expenses in the manner of roommates, each paying their own way. That occasionally, the decedent treated his sisters to movies or other recreational activities. The facts also state that the decedent was injured and later died as the result of a work related accident, and that following the accident, his sister, Verna Caporoz, unnecessarily quit her job to stay with the decedent at the hospital. Subsequent to the accident and Ms. Caporoz quitting her job, the evidence shows that the sisters suffered financial setbacks and were forced to sell some of their personal possessions. The evidence further showed that once Ms. Caporoz returned to work, she has been able to repay the accumulated debts at a rate of \$250.00 per month.

The Commission concluded from these facts that the sisters were not dependent upon the decedent for support. The Commission reasoned that the evidence showed that the siblings each paid their own way during the course of their daily lives, but that occasionally, the decedent would treat his sisters to some form of entertainment. The Commission concluded that the occasional entertainment provided by the decedent was not support. The Commission further concluded that the financial setbacks the sisters suffered after the accident did not show dependency because Ms. Caporoz quit her job on the day her brother got hurt. The Commission attributed the sisters' financial setbacks to Ms. Caporoz quitting her job rather than the loss of the decedent's contribution to the household.

With regard to the Commission's denial of temporary total disability, again the Commission's reasons are clear. According to relevant case law, the right to compensation for injuries is personal to the employee. Unless an award has been made by the Commission during

the decedent's life, the decedent's estate has no claim for unpaid compensation on behalf of the decedent. Pacific States Cast Iron Pipe Co. v. Industrial Commission, 218 P.2d 970, 974 (1950).

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